In the Supreme Court of California DEC 15 2011

Frederick K. Chlifish Olark

SMRITI NALWA,

กลงแบ

Plaintiff and Appellant,

VS.

CEDAR FAIR, L.P.,

Defendant and Respondent.

OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Petition Following Published Opinion of the Court of Appeal, Sixth Appellate District filed on June 10, 2011 in Case No. H034535, Reversing the Judgment of the Superior Court of the State of California for the County of Santa Clara, the Hon. James P. Kleinberg, Judge Presiding, in Santa Clara County Superior Court Case No. 1-07-CV089189

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Is the primary assumption of risk doctrine limited to active sports, i.e. activities "done for enjoyment or thrill, requir[ing] physical exertion as well as elements of skill, ... involv[ing] a challenge containing a potential risk of injury, and ... entail[ing] some pitting of physical prowess (be it strength based ... or skill based ...) against another competitor or against some venue" (*Nalwa v. Cedar Fair, L.P.* (2011) 196 Cal.App.4th 566, 579; citation and internal quotation marks omitted)?
- 2. Does the fact that amusement parks are subject to regulation mean that public policy entirely bars the application of the primary assumption of risk doctrine to amusement park rides?
- 3. Are the owners of amusement parks (and other purveyors of recreational activities) subject to a special version of the primary assumption of risk doctrine that imposes a duty on those owners to take steps to eliminate or decrease any risks inherent in their rides?

INTRODUCTION

This case arises from an incident in which the plaintiff allegedly broke her wrist as a result of a bumper car collision at an amusement park. The defendant park was granted summary judgment pursuant to the primary assumption of risk doctrine. The Court of Appeal reversed, holding that the doctrine did not apply to amusement park rides.

The Court of Appeal held that the doctrine of primary assumption of risk only applies to active sports, and thus could not be applied to amusement park rides – such as the bumper cars on which the plaintiff was riding at the time of her injury – because they not active sports. But in none of the cases in which this Court has addressed the issue of primary assumption of risk – including the seminal case of *Knight v. Jewett* (1992) 3 Cal.4th 296 – has this Court imposed such a restriction on the applicability of the doctrine, nor is such a limitation inherent in the rationale underlying the doctrine. In fact, this Court itself has applied the doctrine in cases which did not involve active sports. *See Neighbarger v. Irwin Industries, Inc.* (1994) 8 Cal.4th 532 (firefighters) and *Priebe v. Nelson* (2006) 39 Cal.4th 1112 (kennel workers).

There is nothing about the doctrine of primary assumption of risk that precludes it from being applied in situations other than active sports; and in particular nothing to prevent it from being applied to amusement park rides.

Contrary to the majority's conclusion below, refusing to apply primary assumption of risk to amusement park rides will not result in "mak[ing] them safer." (*Nalwa, supra,* 196 Cal.App.4th at 579.) Rather, if the doctrine does not apply to amusement park rides, then the operators of amusement parks will be obliged to eliminate the risks inherent in the rides they offer at their parks, even if that requires altering the fundamental nature of those rides. That will not result in the rides being made safer. Rather those rides will cease to exist, to be replaced by rides that are fundamentally different. In essence, the majority below has stated a public policy that amusement park operators can only offer rides that truly do provide only "the illusion of danger", without any actual risk of injury. (*Id.* at 607.)

This Court has not recognized such a policy, and its opinions addressing primary assumption of risk indicate that it would not support such a policy. The defendant would suggest that this Court's opinion in *Knight* stands for the proposition that it is the policy of this state to permit people to engage in a broad variety of recreational activities, even if some of those activities do involve an inherent risk of injury to the participants, and that the persons and entities that enable these individuals to participate in these activities will not be held liable if on occasion those inherent risks cause a participant to suffer injury. Applying the doctrine of primary assumption of risk to amusement

park rides is fully consistent with that policy.

The majority below held that applying primary assumption of risk to amusement parks would be contrary to the public policy encompassed by the "protective regulatory scheme" governing the operation of amusement parks. However, a review of those regulations offers no support for the majority's conclusion, and in fact shows that the policy reflected these regulations explicitly permits amusement parks to operate bumper car rides, despite the risks that may arise from the collisions that are an inherent part of such rides.

Finally, the majority below concluded that amusement park operators owe a higher duty of care to their customers and that this precludes the application of the primary assumption of risk doctrine to amusement park rides. However, there is no support in the case law for such a conclusion. Complying with such an interpretation of the law would force amusement parks to alter the fundamental nature of many of their rides in order to comply with it, and there is no public policy justification for imposing such a duty on amusement park operators.

None of the grounds offered by the majority below for their decision to reverse the summary judgment has any merit. Accordingly, this Court should reverse the decision of the Court of Appeal and reinstate the trial court's order granting the defendant's motion for summary judgment.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On July 5, 2005, plaintiff Smriti Nalwa, M.D. went to California's Great America amusement park in San Jose, California with her nine year old son and six year old daughter. (Clerk's Transcript ["CT"] 61, 70-71.) While at the park, plaintiff and her children decided to go on the Rue Le Dodge bumper car ride. Plaintiff watched the ride while they were waiting in line to get on the ride. (CT 76-77.)

When it was their turn to ride, plaintiff and her son got into one bumper car and her daughter got into another by herself. Plaintiff's son drove and plaintiff sat next to him in the bumper car. (CT 78, 88.) Plaintiff and her son knew that, during the ride, they would be bumped by the other cars. According to plaintiff and her son, getting bumped by other cars was what made the ride fun. (CT 80-81, 100-01.)

After the ride started, plaintiff's son controlled the bumper car in which he and plaintiff were riding. Plaintiff's son steered the car and bumped into several other cars during the ride. (CT 79, 81, 100.) Near the end of the ride, plaintiff's bumper car was bumped from the front and then from behind. When she was bumped from behind, plaintiff put her left hand out to brace herself and fractured her wrist, as the plaintiff explained in her deposition.

- "Q. Sure. Describe for us how the actual collision occurred –
- A. Sure.
- Q. which injured your left wrist.
- A. Right. We were on already a couple of minutes. Sanjit was driving. He was at the wheel. And after some time, I felt I saw a car coming in front bump us from front, and then I felt a bump from the back, and I felt myself moving you know being pushed pushed around.

And I had no way to hold, and *at that point* as I – to brace myself, I put my palm on the dashboard – whatever it was in front, I knew that was the dashboard; and I put my hand over there.

- Q. So you were bumped from the front –
- A. And the back.
- Q. and from the back?
- A. Yes.
- Q. Which bump occurred first, front or back?
- A. You know, I think the -I the front the front.
- Q. Okay. But you knew you knew from watching the bumper car and you knew from sitting in the bumper car during the experience that you were going to be bumped.
- A. That's correct. But I felt that I had I felt I was being almost thrown out, you know, so I needed to brace myself. I was being pushed around " (CT 85:14 86:20; emphasis added.)¹

Plaintiff asserted in her Appellant's Reply Brief (at page 5) that "Respondent argues, for the first time, that Appellant's injuries were not caused by a head-on collision" and therefore the issue was "not properly before this Court." Defendant explained in its Petition for Rehearing (at pages 13-17) that plaintiff was incorrect. This issue is discussed at length in footnote 4 below, at pages 47-48.

The Rue Le Dodge bumper car ride consisted of a number of small, car-like vehicles that moved around a flat surface track powered by electricity. (Declaration of Jessica Naderman in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment at ¶ 3 and Ex. A to Naderman Decl. [found in the record as Exhibit] A to Cedar Fair's Motion to Augment Record on Appeal].) The cars were surrounded by a rubber bumper. (Naderman Decl. at ¶ 3, Ex. A to Naderman Decl.) The driver of each bumper car controlled both the steering of the car as well as its speed. (CT 79, 87; Naderman Decl. at ¶ 4.) Once the ride started, Cedar Fair did not control the individual bumper cars. (Naderman Decl. at ¶ 4.) Each bumper car had a padded seat, padded sides, a padded steering wheel, and a padded dash board. The cars were also equipped with two seat belts to restrain the driver and passenger during the ride. (Naderman Decl. at ¶ 5.) The ride lasted approximately two minutes. (Naderman Decl. at $\P 4$.)

There were warning signs posted at the entrance of the bumper car ride in July 2005. One warning sign was entitled "RIDE WARNING - PLEASE READ" and informed people waiting in line for the ride that "Rue Le Dodge cars are independently controlled electric vehicles. The action of this ride subjects your car to bumping." (Naderman Decl. at ¶ 6.) Another posted sign informed guests that the bumper car ride "is a medium speed ride where riders

may encounter unexpected changes in direction and/or speed during portions of the ride." (Naderman Decl. at ¶ 7.) Plaintiff saw these signs before she got on the ride. (CT 92.)

The Rue Le Dodge ride was reconfigured in 2006 (i.e. after the incident at issue in the underlying lawsuit) to add an island in the middle of the track which encouraged riders to ride in the same direction. (CT 158.) This change was made to make the Rue Le Dodge track consistent with bumper car tracks at other amusement parks owned by Cedar Fair. (CT 159.) The change in the track reduced, but did not eliminate, head-on collisions. (CT 210.)

The bumper car ride was inspected annually for safety by the California Department of Industrial Relations, Division of Occupational Health and Safety ("DOSH"). DOSH inspected the bumper car ride in 2004, 2005 and 2006 and found no safety-related problems with the operation of the ride. (Naderman Decl. at ¶ 8.) The ride was inspected every morning by both the maintenance and ride operations departments of the amusement park. On the morning of the incident, the ride was inspected and was found to be working normally. (Naderman Decl. at ¶ 9.)

Approximately 300,000 people ride the Rue Le Dodge ride every year.

(Naderman Decl. at ¶ 10.) In 2004, there were only twenty-eight injuries reported as having occurred on or around the bumper car ride, including four

contusions, fourteen abrasions, three lacerations, and four strains. In 2005 there were twenty-seven injuries reported (including plaintiff's injury) as having occurred on or around the bumper car ride, including six contusions, thirteen abrasions, and two strains. Other than plaintiff, there were no fractures reported as a result of the bumper car ride in 2004, 2005, or 2006. (CT 108.)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On January 25, 2008, plaintiff filed a Second Amended Complaint against Cedar Fair containing causes of action for (1) common carrier liability, (2) willful misconduct, (3) strict liability [design defect], (4) strict liability [distribution of defective product], and (5) negligence. (CT 1-7.)

Cedar Fair filed a motion for summary judgment as to the Second Amended Complaint. In response to the motion, plaintiff dismissed the two products liability causes of action. As to the remaining claims, the trial court granted summary judgment on April 3, 2009. (CT 238-40.)

In granting the motion, the trial court found that "Plaintiff's injury arose from being bumped during a bumper-car ride, which is a risk inherent in the activity of riding bumper cars." (CT 238.) The trial court found that the duty of care for common carriers did not apply because Cedar Fair "had no control over the steering and orientation of the individual bumper cars." (CT 238-39.) Even if Cedar Fair were considered a common carrier, the trial court found that the doctrine of primary assumption of risk barred plaintiff's claims because Cedar Fair did not have a duty to protect plaintiff from risks inherent in the activity. (CT 239.)

The trial court rejected plaintiff's argument that Cedar Fair was negligent in failing to reconfigure the bumper car track prior to the injury

because "any type of bumping – either head-on or from the rear – is inherent in the activity of riding bumper cars. Defendant did not have a duty to reduce risks that are inherent to bumper-car riding. (*See Balthazor v. Little League Baseball* (1998) 62 Cal. App. 4th 47, 52.)" (CT 239.) The trial court declined to rule on plaintiff's objections to evidence submitted in support of the motion on the ground that the objections did not comply with California Rules of Court rules 3.1354(b)(3) and (c). (CT 239-40.) Judgment was entered in Cedar Fair's favor on June 8, 2009. (CT 244.)

The plaintiff appealed from the judgment. (CT 254) The Court of Appeal issued its opinion on the plaintiff's appeal on June 10, 2011, reversing the judgment. Justice Wendy Clark Duffy dissented from the decision. The defendant filed a petition for rehearing following the filing of the appellate court's opinion. That petition was denied on July 7, 2011. Justice Duffy indicated that she would have granted the petition.

On July 21, 2011, the defendant filed a petition for review with this Court. The plaintiff declined to file an answer. On August 31, 2011, this Court granted the defendant's petition for review.

LEGAL ARGUMENT

1. THE DEVELOPMENT OF THE DOCTRINE OF PRIMARY ASSUMPTION OF RISK DOCTRINE IN THIS COURT

This case presents a fundamental question: what is the proper scope of the primary assumption of risk doctrine? Should it apply only to active sports, as the majority below concluded? Or should it apply to all activities which involve inherent risks? Or should the limits of the doctrine's applicability be placed somewhere in between? To answer this question, it will help if we first examine the history of the doctrine.

As this Court noted in *Knight v. Jewett, supra* (1992) 3 Cal.4th 296, 303, "the assumption of risk doctrine long has caused confusion both in definition and application, because the phrase 'assumption of risk' traditionally has been used in a number of very different factual settings involving analytically distinct legal concepts." In *Fonseca v. County of Orange* (1972) 28 Cal.App.3d 361, 368-369, the Court of Appeal offered an example of how this problem had manifested itself in California.

"It has been repeatedly noted that contributory negligence and assumption of risk are separate and distinct defenses. Assumption of risk involves the negation of defendant's duty; contributory negligence is a defense to a breach of such duty; assumption of risk may involve perfectly reasonable conduct on plaintiff's part; contributory negligence never does; assumption of risk typically embraces the voluntary or deliberate incurring of known peril; contributory negligence frequently involves the inadvertent failure to notice danger.

The courts have frequently recognized that there is an area of overlap between the two doctrines, so that identical facts may give rise to both defenses. The overlap has been described as follows: '[The] plaintiff's conduct in encountering a known risk may be in itself unreasonable, because the danger is out of all proportion to the advantage which he is seeking to obtain.

. . . If that is the case, his conduct is a form of contributory negligence, in which the negligence consists in making the wrong choice and voluntarily encountering a known unreasonable risk. ...'" (citations omitted)

The relationship between assumption of risk and contributory negligence required this Court to address the continuing viability of the assumption of risk doctrine when it adopted comparative negligence in *Li v*. *Yellow Cab Co.* (1975) 13 Cal.3d 804, 824-825.

"The third area of concern, the status of the doctrines of last clear chance and assumption of risk, involves less the practical problems of administering a particular form of comparative negligence than it does a definition of the theoretical outline of the specific form to be adopted. ... As for assumption of risk, we have recognized in this state that this defense overlaps that of contributory negligence to some extent and in fact is made up of at least two distinct defenses. 'To simplify greatly, it has been observed . . . that in one kind of situation, to wit, where a plaintiff unreasonably undertakes to encounter a specific known risk imposed by a defendant's negligence, plaintiff's conduct, although he may encounter that risk in a prudent manner, is in reality a form of contributory negligence . . . Other kinds of situations within the doctrine of assumption of risk are those, for example, where plaintiff is held to agree to relieve defendant of an obligation of reasonable conduct toward him. Such a situation would not involve contributory negligence, but rather a reduction of defendant's duty of care.' We think it clear that the adoption of a system of comparative negligence should entail the merger of the defense of assumption of risk into the general scheme of assessment of liability in proportion to fault in those particular cases in which the form of assumption of risk involved is no more than a variant of contributory negligence." (citations omitted)

As this Court discussed in *Knight*, the *Li* court's decision regarding the extent to which assumption of risk survived the adoption of comparative negligence unfortunately did not definitively resolve the issue.

"Prior to the adoption of comparative fault principles of liability, there often was no need to distinguish between the different categories of assumption of risk cases, because if a case fell into either category, the plaintiff's recovery was totally barred. With the adoption of comparative fault, however, it became essential to differentiate between the distinct categories of cases that traditionally had been lumped together under the rubric of assumption of risk. This court's seminal comparative fault decision in Li, supra, 13 Cal.3d 804, explicitly recognized the need for such differentiation, and attempted to explain which category of assumption of risk cases should be merged into the comparative fault system and which category should not. "[T]he Li decision, supra, 13 Cal.3d 804, clearly contemplated that the assumption of risk doctrine was to be partially merged or subsumed into the comparative negligence scheme. Subsequent Court of Appeal decisions have disagreed, however, in interpreting Li, as to what category of assumption of risk cases would be merged into the comparative negligence scheme." (Knight, supra, 3 Cal.4th at 304, 306.)

This Court resolved this uncertainty about how Li should be interpreted by providing this definitive explanation of the relevant portion of that opinion.

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