IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SMRITI NALWA, M.D.)	Case No. S195031
)	Court of Appeal: H034535
Plaintiff and Appellant,)	Santa Clara County
)	Superior Court Case
VS.)	No. 1-07-CV089189
)	OUD
CEDAR FAIR, L.P.)	SUPREME COURT
)	FILED
Defendant and Respondent.)	
•)	FEB 1 4 2012
•	_)	Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk
		DANIET
		22436

On Appeal from a Judgment of the California Court of Appeal, Sixth Appellate District, Reversing the Judgment of the Superior Court of the State of California for the County of Santa Clara, the Honorable James P. Kleinberg, Judge Presiding

APPELLANT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Ardell Johnson, Esq. Law Offices of Ardell Johnson State Bar No. 95340

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

Cedar Fair essentially asks this Court to ignore this well-established common carrier policy on the basis that primary assumption of risk exempts it from its duty of due care. This Court should decline to do so because of its policy of classifying amusement ride operators as common carriers and holding them to a duty of utmost care.

3. The public policy of amusement rider safety is not served by excusing a regulated amusement ride operator from its duty of due care to its injured patron

Cedar Fair's role as a regulated amusement ride operator is crucial to understanding the policy reasons for not exempting Cedar Fair from its

duty of due care. Cedar Fair attempts to circumvent this policy discussion by simply stating it allegedly did not violate any regulations that govern Rue Le Dodge. This Court has reviewed a rule's or regulation's effect on primary assumption of risk, but it has done so in the context of a plaintiff's unsuccessful argument that Evidence Code section 669, subdivision (a)⁶ precluded the application of the doctrine.⁷ This Court has similarly rejected arguments that a non-legislative rule creates an independent basis for a duty of care that precludes the application of primary assumption of risk.⁸ In those cases, the nature of the activity was already one in which this Court determined primary assumption of risk could apply, so it was not necessary to examine the policies behind the rules and regulations for help deciding whether the doctrine could apply.

Evidence Code section 669, subdivision (a) states:

The failure of a person to exercise due care is presumed if: (1) He violated a statute, ordinance, or regulation of a public entity; (2) The violation proximately caused death or injury to person or property; (3) The death or injury resulted from an occurrence of the nature which the statute, ordinance, or regulation was designed to prevent; and (4) The person suffering the death or the injury to his person or property was one of the class of persons for whose protection the statute, ordinance, or regulation was adopted.

(Evid. Code, § 669, subd. (a).)

See, e.g., Ford v. Gouin, supra, 3 Cal.4th 339, 351 [water-skiing plaintiff not member of class intended to be protected by statute]; Cheong, supra, 16 Cal.4th 1063, 1071 [skiing plaintiff not member of class intended to be protected by ordinance].

See, e.g., *Avila*, *supra*, 38 Cal.4th 148, 163 [defendant did not owe plaintiff independent duty to not host preseason games as prohibited by college rules]; *Shin*, *supra*, 42 Cal.4th 482, 497 [appellate court wrong to find primary assumption of risk did not apply because etiquette rule required golfers to look for others near them before taking golf swing].

Those cases focused on whether alleged violated rules and regulations independently imposed a duty on the defendants, rather than on whether the rules and regulations themselves reflected a public policy that did not support exempting the defendants from their duty of care. However, Sanchez v. Hillerich & Bradsby Co. (2002) 104 Cal. App. 4th 703 examined rules for their utility in a public policy analysis. The court looked beyond the defendant's compliance with National Collegiate Athletic Association ("NCAA") standards when the plaintiff was injured by a baseball hit with a metal bat manufactured and designed by the defendant. (Id. at pp. 706, 707, 715.) Even though the court acknowledged that, "[a]t the time of the accident, the NCAA allowed the use of metal bats, and the bat in use was apparently in compliance with NCAA standards," it nonetheless found there was a triable issue of fact as to whether the defendant increased the inherent risk of being struck by a baseball during a baseball game. (*Id.* at p. 713.) Finding the defendant complied with rules did not foreclose discussing whether the compliant conduct could be a breach of its duty.

All amusement park rides in California, including Cedar Fair's bumper car ride, are regulated by the California Code of Regulations. (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 8, §§ 3195.1 et seq., 3900 et seq.) Cedar Fair alleges Rue Le Dodge complied with these the year Dr. Nalwa was injured. It specifically alleges it complied with California Code of Regulations, title 8, section 3195.9, subdivision (a), which is the only applicable regulation to mention bumper cars by name. However, any compliance with these regulations is irrelevant to determining whether primary assumption of risk applies here. Instead, the proper focus is on what public policy is reflected in these regulations and whether that policy supports holding Cedar Fair

The regulation states, in part, "Low speed vehicles designed for controlled collisions, such as bumper cars, do not require emergency stopping controls." (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 8, § 3195.9, subd. (a).)

legally responsible for the harm it caused Dr. Nalwa. Therefore, Cedar Fair's reliance on cases based on Evidence Code section 669, subdivision (a), including this Court's decision in *Cheong, supra*, 16 Cal.4th 1063, is misplaced.

The purpose of the regulations governing general industry safety orders for amusement rides is to "establish minimum standards for design, maintenance, construction, alteration, operation, repair, inspections, assembly, disassembly, and use of amusement rides for the protection of persons using such rides." (Cal. Code Regs., tit. 8, § 3900 et seq., emphasis added.) The appellate court thus correctly identified amusement rider safety as a relevant policy concern articulated by the legislature. (Nalwa, supra, 196 Cal.App.4th 566, 576-577.) Cedar Fair argues this policy is not served if primary assumption of risk does not apply here. However, as the appellate court indicated, holding amusement park owners such as Cedar Fair liable for the injuries caused on their rides due to their careless conduct will force them to operate the rides more safely. (Id at p. 579.)

The regulations do not "compel" the application of primary assumption of risk, as Cedar Fair argues. (Op. Br. at p. 33.) It is fully consistent with California Code of Regulations, title 8, section 3195.9, subdivision (a) for Cedar Fair to owe a duty to guard against head-on collisions on Rue Le Dodge, while still having other bumps on the ride. Nothing about the imposition of this duty runs afoul with the policy behind the primary assumption of risk doctrine. The policy of this state to exempt certain recreational facility owners and operators from their duty of due care owed to their patrons with respect to inherent risks of an activity coexists comfortably with the policy of amusement rider safety and holding amusement ride operators owe a duty of due care to their patrons who are injured by non-inherent risks of their rides.

Dr. Nalwa urges this Court to consider in its duty determination the policy of amusement rider safety reflected in these regulatory statutes and to recognize that such a consideration extends well beyond whether Cedar Fair allegedly complied with the regulations governing Rue Le Dodge. Dr. Nalwa was an amusement rider injured on Rue Le Dodge. The ride would have been safer for her if Cedar Fair operated it as a unidirectional ride because then she would not have been injured in a head-on collision. Cedar Fair cannot establish the policies behind the regulations exempt it from its duty of due care because the application of the primary assumption of risk doctrine here would contravene public policy.

II. THERE IS A TRIABLE ISSUE OF FACT AS TO WHETHER
AN AMUSEMENT RIDE OPERATOR BREACHED ITS
DUTY OF DUE CARE TO A PATRON BY FAILING TO
GUARD AGAINST HEAD-ON COLLISIONS ON ITS
BUMPER CAR RIDE, DESPITE KNOWING OF THEIR
DANGER AND GUARDING AGAINST THEM AT EVERY
OTHER BUMPER CAR RIDE IT OPERATES

Civil Code Section 1714 provides the general rule of a duty of due care. (Civ. Code § 1714.) Even Cedar Fair acknowledges that if primary assumption of risk does not apply here, this duty includes "a duty to eliminate – or otherwise protect the plaintiff from – the risk of injury." (Op. Br. at p. 22.) There is a triable issue of fact as to whether Cedar Fair breached this duty of due care by not operating Rue Le Dodge as a unidirectional ride.

Even if Cedar Fair had not conceded this duty exists in the absence of the application of primary assumption of risk, this Court's independent analysis should still lead to the same conclusion that Cedar Fair owes a duty to minimize head-on collisions on Rue Le Dodge. In *Parsons v. Crown Disposal Co., supra,* 15 Cal.4th 456, this Court identified that when

primary assumption of risk does not apply, it is proper to analyze the policy factors set forth by this Court in *Rowland v. Christian, supra*, 69 Cal.2d 108:

Some of the considerations that courts have employed in various contexts to determine the existence and scope of duty are: "the foreseeability of harm to the plaintiff, the degree of certainty that the plaintiff suffered injury, the closeness of the connection between the defendant's conduct and the injury suffered, the moral blame attached to the defendant's conduct, the policy of preventing future harm, the extent of the burden to the defendant and consequences to the community of imposing a duty to exercise care with resulting liability for breach, and the availability, cost, and prevalence of insurance for the risk involved. [Citations.]" [Citation.]

(*Parsons*, at pp. 472-473.)

This Court clarified the foreseeability factor requires an analysis of "whether the category of negligent conduct at issue is sufficiently likely to result in the kind of harm experienced [so] that liability may appropriately be imposed. . . . '(Italics omitted.)" (Id. at p. 476, citing Ballard v. Uribe (1986) 41 Cal.3d 564, 572-573, fn. 6.) This Court also identified "the social value of the interest which the actor is seeking to advance' [citation]" as an additional factor to consider. (*Parsons*, at p. 473, italics omitted.) After analyzing each factor, this Court held a garbage truck operator owed no duty to guard against frightening a horse that injured its rider when it was scared by the garbage truck's loud noises. (Id. at p. 477.) This Court emphasized the social utility of the defendant's garbage collection and the burden on the community if the Court held those near horses had a duty to guard against frightening them. (Id. at pp. 473-475.) This Court assumed the defendant had liability insurance, but it was "not confident that the same may be said as to the myriad other actors (i.e., potential defendants) whose everyday and reasonable conduct might cause similar fright to horses." (Id. at pp. 476-477.) Therefore, a majority of the Rowland factors

justified not imposing a duty on the defendant to guard against frightening horses.

Patterson, supra, 155 Cal.App.4th 821 considered whether a school district defendant owed a duty of reasonable care to its unsupervised student plaintiff who was injured during the defendant's truckdriver training course. (*Id.* at pp. 824, 842.) The court concluded the defendant owed the plaintiff a duty of reasonable care after a majority of the *Rowland* factors supported the imposition of that duty. (*Id.* at p. 833.) Although there was no moral blame attributed to the defendant's conduct, such a determination was not dispositive. (*Ibid.*) In particular, the court stated:

Any increased burden of providing supervision for future community service projects was minimal because the instructors were already tasked with teaching the "hands on" segment of the class and had already provided the students with some level of instruction, supervision and critique.

(Ibid.)

It also assumed "the District already carrie[d] liability insurance and [was] in the best position to insure against the risk created by lack of supervision in these circumstances." (*Ibid.*) Rather than excusing the defendant from a duty, the *Rowland* factors supported imposing a duty of reasonable care on the defendant.

Here, too, an analysis of the *Rowland* factors supports imposing a duty of due care on Cedar Fair that includes the duty to guard against head-on collisions on Rue Le Dodge. Dr. Nalwa's harm was foreseeable because failing to operate Rue Le Dodge as a unidirectional ride meant there would be head-on collisions between the bumper cars and those involved would be injured, just as Dr. Nalwa was here when her wrist was fractured as a result of the head-on collision. Cedar Fair knew of this danger because it specifically prohibited head-on collisions to ensure "the overall safety of the ride." This is precisely why Cedar Fair made sure to operate every other

bumper car ride it owned, except for Rue Le Dodge, as a unidirectional ride so the bumper cars only travelled in one direction, not head-on into one another. Thus, there is a direct connection between Dr. Nalwa's injury and Cedar Fair's failure to guard against head-on collisions. While the moral blame attached to Cedar Fair's failure to operate Rue Le Dodge as a unidirectional ride, despite having done so at all of its other bumper car rides, is not dispositive, ¹⁰ there are strong policy reasons for preventing future harm on Rue Le Dodge. It is a regulated amusement park ride that hundreds of thousands of people ride each year, many of whom are young children. This policy is emphasized in the regulations that govern Rue Le Dodge.

Just as *Patterson* found it was not burdensome to require the defendant to do what it was already tasked with doing, it is not burdensome here to require Cedar Fair to guard against head-on collisions. Cedar Fair has now already changed Rue Le Dodge to be a unidirectional ride, so it is just like every other one of its bumper car rides at its four other amusement parks. Dr. Nalwa requests that Cedar Fair guard against the very specific risk of head-on collisions on its bumper car ride, while the plaintiff in *Parsons* argued for the defendant to guard against the more general risk of horses being frightened. Imposing such a duty in *Parsons* could have implicated anyone in the community who was near horses. However, imposing a duty to guard against head-on collisions in bumper car rides will

Dr. Nalwa maintains a willful misconduct claim against Cedar Fair in a separate cause of action. The appellate court reversed the trial court's order granting Cedar Fair's summary judgment motion as to this claim. Cedar Fair has not addressed this portion of the Court of Appeal's decision in its appeal to this Court. Dr. Nalwa argues Cedar Fair consciously failed to guard against head-on collisions on Rue Le Dodge knowing that doing so would cause injury. This is morally blameworthy and is a factor that justifies not excusing Cedar Fair from its duty to guard against head-on collisions.

only affect bumper car ride operators such as Cedar Fair. Therefore, the burden on the community that weighed so heavily in this Court's analysis in *Parsons* is not present under the limited facts here. Cedar Fair, as an amusement ride operator, carries liability insurance, and, like the defendant in *Patterson*, "is in the best position to insure against the risk created" by its negligence. (*Patterson, supra,* 155 Cal.App.4th 821, 833.) This Court need not worry as it did in *Parsons* about the effect on "the myriad other actors" in finding insurance is prevalent and available to Cedar Fair, because, again, the facts here are specifically limited to this amusement ride operator defendant and do not implicate the community at large. (*Parsons, supra,* 15 Cal.4th 456, 477.) Finally, the social utility of Cedar Fair's bumper car ride does not justify excusing it from a duty to guard against head-on collisions. Cedar Fair's role in society is to provide amusement, not essential living functions like the garbage collector defendant in *Parsons*.

Rowland's policy factors support finding Cedar Fair has a duty of due care that includes the duty to guard against head-on collisions. The facts demonstrate Cedar Fair breached this duty by not operating Rue Le Dodge as a unidirectional ride even though it knew of the dangers of head-on collisions and guarded against them at every other park it owned. Cedar Fair's rule prohibiting head-on collisions was not adequate to satisfy this duty, because the rule only functioned to address head-on collisions after they had occurred. Cedar Fair has not argued the Rowland policy considerations justify exempting it from its duty of care. It has also not argued it did not breach this duty of care. Therefore, there is a triable issue of fact as to whether Cedar Fair breached this duty.

III. EVEN IF PRIMARY ASSUMPTION OF RISK COULD APPLY TO A BUMPER CAR RIDE, THAT AMUSEMENT RIDE'S OWNER AND OPERATOR, CONSISTENT WITH THE DOCTRINE, OWES A DUTY TO MINIMIZE THE RISKS OF THE RIDE WITHOUT ALTERING ITS NATURE

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